THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
DeAndrea Gist Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-001734
Case No. 2010-CP-40-5214

RECEIVED
DEC 11 2017
SC Court of Appeals

Demetrius Mack, Respondent,

v.

Leon Lott, in his Official Capacity as
Sheriff of Richland County, Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Andrew F. Lindemann
Robert D. Garfield
DAVIDSON & LINDEMANN, P.A.
1611 Devonshire Drive
Post Office Box 8568
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
(803) 806-8222

Counsel for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err in its analysis of probable cause by failing to consider the evidence supporting probable cause from the perspective of an objectively reasonable officer on the scene?

- II. Did the trial court err in failing to rule as a matter of law that an objectively reasonable police officer in Deputy James Gore's position could have perceived and concluded that the Appellant Demetrius Mack committed an unwanted touching resulting in injuries sustained in the public roadway?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action for false arrest/imprisonment brought by the Respondent Demetrius Mack against the Appellant Leon Lott, in his official capacity as Sheriff of Richland County. This action arises out of the arrest of Mack on December 6, 2008, in the vicinity of Club Essence, a nightclub located on Two Notch Road in Richland County, South Carolina. Mack was working at the time as a private security officer at Club Essence. Mack was arrested by Richland County sheriff's deputies on the charge of simple assault following his pursuit, apprehension, and handcuffing of the victim, McKenzie Williamson.

Demetrius Mack initiated this action by the filing of a complaint on August 4, 2010, wherein he alleged causes of action for false arrest/imprisonment, negligence, gross negligence, negligent training, assault and battery. All of the causes of action except for the false arrest/imprisonment claim were voluntarily dismissed prior to trial.

The case was scheduled for a jury trial to begin on April 4, 2012. The parties thereafter waived their right to a jury trial and consented to a bench trial before Circuit Court Judge DeAndrea G. Benjamin. The case was tried on April 4-5, 2012. On April 5, 2012, Judge Benjamin issued a judgment in favor of the Respondent Mack and awarded \$7,500.00 in actual damages. That judgment was memorialized in an order filed April 6, 2012.

Sheriff Lott subsequently filed a motion to alter or amend judgment pursuant to Rule 52(b) and/or Rule 59(e), SCRCF. That motion was summarily denied in a form order filed May 11, 2012.

Sheriff Lott thereafter filed a timely appeal to the Court of Appeals which remanded the case by a published opinion issued on July 23, 2014. The Court of Appeals concluded that the "trial court's findings of fact are insufficient under Rule 52(a)," and as a result, the Court remanded "for more detailed findings as to whether Mack met his burden of proving Gore did not have probable cause to arrest him." Sheriff Lott petitioned for rehearing, and that petition was summarily denied.

Thereafter, Sheriff Lott filed a petition for writ of certiorari which was granted in part. After full briefing and oral argument, the Supreme Court dismissed the writ as improvidently granted "since both parties and the trial court agree that the proper standard for determining probable cause is an objective standard; that is, whether the facts known to the arresting officer at the time of the arrest, viewed from the standpoint of an objectively reasonable police officer, amount to probable cause." The Supreme Court also ordered that the Court of Appeals' opinion be depublished "[b]ecause the Court of Appeals' language on this issue is arguably unclear."

On remand, Judge Benjamin held a hearing on May 4, 2017, at which she heard additional oral argument from the parties. She thereafter issued a written

order filed July 19, 2017, wherein she set forth findings of fact and conclusions of law and ultimately confirmed her earlier judgment in favor of Mack in the amount of \$7,500.00.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On December 6, 2008, the Respondent Demetrius Mack was employed with DTH Protective Services and working at Club Essence, a nightclub on Two Notch Road in Richland County. On that date, a Club Essence patron named McKenzie Williamson had been creating some trouble at the nightclub. According to Mack, Williamson had been escorted off the property several times by members of DTH Protective Services. (Tr. 134-137).

At some point during the early morning hours, Williamson returned to the nightclub and was spotted by Mack. When Mack approached Williamson to arrest him, Williamson immediately began to flee on foot. (Tr. 137-138). Mack pursued Williamson and during the course of the pursuit in the direction of Weir Avenue,¹ Mack claims that Williamson tripped and fell under a white vehicle parked on the public roadway. (Tr. 137-138, 181). Mack testified that he then "grabbed" Williamson, "pulled" him from under the parked vehicle, and placed him in handcuffs. (Tr. 182, 185-186).

Richland County Sheriff's Deputies James Gore and Kenneth Proffitt were on duty in their assignment in Region Two at or near the 100 block of Weir

¹ The adjoining property to the Club Essence location is 109 Weir Avenue which is owned by the owner of Club Essence. That property was used as a parking lot for the nightclub and was within the scope of DTH Protective Services' contract. (Plaintiff Ex. 5).

Avenue. Specifically, they were in the process of placing some subjects in custody for narcotics violations. (Tr. 94). At that time, these deputies observed some type of commotion taking place at Club Essence, which was approximately forty yards from their location. (Tr. 94-95). In particular, they observed a subject running from the nightclub's parking lot out into the road with another subject chasing him. (Tr. 95). Deputy Gore observed the second subject tackle the first subject in the roadway. It then appeared that the second subject placed handcuffs on the first subject. (Tr. 96). Deputy Proffitt witnessed the same events. (Tr. 255-258).

Deputy Proffitt called for back-up units, and Deputy Stacy Parish, who was in the vicinity, responded. The location of Williamson and the parked vehicle are depicted on Deputy Parish's dashboard video. (Defendant Ex. 4).

Deputy Gore proceeded to the location and spoke with Demetrius Mack to ascertain the nature of the commotion. Mack identified himself as a security guard for Club Essence. Mack explained that the subject running off the property was asked several times to leave and would not do so. Mack then chased the subject off the property and into the roadway. (Tr. 99).

Deputy Gore asked Mack that, at the point the subject was off the property then why did he continue to chase him into the street. Mack replied that he was detaining him so that law enforcement could place him on trespass notice. Deputy Gore then asked Mack whether he intended to press charges against the subject, and Mack stated that he did not. Deputy Gore then advised Mack as to Section 40-

18-110, which provides that a person who is appropriately certified as a private security officer has the authority and arrest powers given to sheriff's deputies. However, such powers are specifically confined to the property on which he is employed. (Tr. 100-102).

Deputy Gore turned his questioning to the McKenzie Williamson who had been handcuffed by Mack. Williamson informed him that he wished to press charges against Mack. (Tr. 104). Deputy Gore observed Williamson and noted that he sustained injuries to his hands and face and that he had blood "all over his shirt." (Tr. 103). Those injuries required ambulatory treatment, and Williamson was subsequently transported to the hospital via Richland County EMS. (Tr. 104). Deputy Gore (who was a Corporal at the time of these events) instructed Master Deputy Stacy Parish to effectuate an arrest of Mack for simple assault. Mack was arrested and transported to the Alvin S. Glenn Detention Center.

ARGUMENTS

- I. The trial court erred in its analysis of probable cause by failing to consider the evidence supporting probable cause from the perspective of an objectively reasonable officer on the scene.**

The Appellant Sheriff Leon Lott contends that Circuit Court Judge DeAndrea Benjamin erred in her analysis of probable cause in that she failed to consider the evidence supporting probable cause from the perspective of an objectively reasonable officer on the scene.

A. Applicable Standard

As the Supreme Court recently explained in this very case, "the proper standard for determining probable cause is an objective standard; that is, whether the facts known to the arresting officer at the time of the arrest, *viewed from the standpoint of an objectively reasonable police officer*, amount to probable cause." *Mack v. Lott*, 415 S.C. 22, 780 S.E.2d 761, 761 (2015). (Emphasis added). In *Jackson v. City of Abbeville*, 366 S.C. 662, 623 S.E.2d 656 (Ct. App. 2005), this Court explained that "[p]robable cause turns not on the individual's actual guilt or innocence, but on whether facts within the officer's knowledge would lead a reasonable person to believe the individual arrested was guilty of a crime." 623

S.E.2d at 658, *citing State v. George*, 323 S.C. 496, 476 S.E.2d 903 (1996). "Probable cause is determined as of the time of the arrest, based on facts and circumstances -- objectively measured -- known to the arresting officer." *Jackson*, 623 S.E.2d at 659. Importantly, "[t]he determination of probable cause is not an academic exercise in hindsight." *Id.*

"The term 'probable cause' does not import absolute certainty." *Lapp v. South Carolina Department of Motor Vehicles*, 387 S.C. 500, 692 S.E.2d 565, 568 (Ct. App. 2010). In fact, "[a] finding of probable cause may be based upon less evidence than would be necessary to support a conviction." *Id.* Thus, it is well settled that probable cause does not turn on an individual's actual guilt or innocence." *State v. Manning*, 400 S.C. 257, 734 S.E.2d 314, 319 (Ct. App. 2012). This Court has previously explained that "[a]lthough the question of whether probable cause exists is ordinarily a jury question, it may be decided as a matter of law when the evidence yields but one conclusion." *Jackson v. City of Abbeville*, 366 S.C. 662, 623 S.E.2d 656, 660 (Ct. App. 2005).

The requirement of an objective test is mandated by United States Supreme Court and South Carolina case law. In *Ornelas v. United States*, 517 U.S. 690 (1996), the United States Supreme Court explained that "[t]he principal components of a determination of ... probable cause will be the events which occurred leading up to the ... search [or seizure], and then the decision whether these historical facts, *viewed from the standpoint of an objectively reasonable*

police officer, amount ... to probable cause." 517 U.S. at 696. (Emphasis added).

An almost identical recitation of the law is included in this Court's opinion in *State v. Morris*, 395 S.C. 600, 720 S.E.2d 468 (Ct. App. 2011), where this Court wrote: "The principal components of the determination of probable cause will be whether the events which occurred leading up to the search [or seizure], viewed from the standpoint of an objectively reasonable police officer, amount to probable cause." 720 S.E.2d at 472. In *State v. Brockman*, 339 S.C. 57, 528 S.E.2d 661 (2000), the State Supreme Court rejected the *de novo* standard of review from *Ornelas*, but the Court did cite favorably to the "two-step process" for determining probable cause as articulated in that decision. The Supreme Court explained the "two-step process" as follows: "First, a court must determine the events which occurred leading up to the stop or search. Second, the court must decide whether these historical facts, *viewed from the standpoint of an objectively reasonable police officer*, amount to reasonable suspicion or to probable cause." 528 S.E.2d at 664. (Emphasis added).

Therefore, the first step of the objective test requires the trial court to determine the "historical facts." As the Supreme Court explained in the landmark case of *Beck v. Ohio*, 379 U.S. 89 (1964), "[w]hen the constitutional validity of an arrest is challenged, it is the function of a court to determine whether *the facts available to the officers at the moment of arrest* would warrant a man of reasonable caution in the belief that an offense has been committed." 379 U.S. at 96.

(Emphasis added) That test was reiterated in another landmark case: "[I]t is imperative that the facts be judged against an objective standard: would *the facts available to the officer at the moment of the seizure* or the search warrant a man of reasonable caution in the belief that the action taken was appropriate?" *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 21-22 (1968). (Emphasis added) The United States Supreme Court has described this as a "flexible, common sense standard" which "does not demand any showing that such a belief be correct or more likely true than false." *Texas v. Brown*, 460 U.S. 730, 742 (1983).

The appellate courts of this State are in accord: Citing *Texas v. Brown*, this Court has explained that "[i]n regard to the lawfulness of an arrest, probable cause merely requires that the facts available to the officer would warrant a man of reasonable caution in the belief that an offense has been committed and the accused committed it." *In the Matter of the Care and Treatment of Brown*, 372 S.C. 611, 643 S.E.2d 118 (Ct. App. 2007). *See also, State v. Geer*, 391 S.C. 179, 705 S.E.2d 441 (Ct. App. 2010).

Therefore, in determining the "historical facts" as part of the "two step process" established in *Ornelas*, a court must look at the "facts available to the officer" or, put another way, the facts within the officer's knowledge. Once those "historical facts" are determined by the factfinder, the court must then proceed to the second prong of the analysis and decide "whether [those] historical facts, viewed from the standpoint of an objectively reasonable police officer, amount to

probable cause." *State v. Morris*, 411 S.C. 571, 769 S.E.2d 854, 859 (2015), *citing Ornelas*, 517 U.S. at 696.

B. Legal Analysis

In its opinion in *Mack I*, this Court boiled down the essence of this dispute to the following:

If Mack arrested Williamson on Club Essence property, any assault Mack committed during the arrest was lawful. However, if Williamson was in the roadway when Mack arrested him, Mack acted without legal authority to make the arrest and would be guilty of assault.

(R. ____). This Court then remanded "for more detailed findings as to whether Mack met his burden of proving Gore did not have probable cause to arrest him."

(R. ____). Based thereon, the trial court on remand was required to determine whether an *objectively reasonable police officer* in Deputy Gore's position would believe that Mack was off the Club Essence property at the time he arrested Williamson.

To make that determination, Judge Benjamin was required to apply an objective test, namely the "two step process" established in *Ornelas*. Judge Benjamin was required to first determine the "historical facts" based on the evidence, those being the facts that were reasonably available to the officer at the time of arrest. It is those facts that must then be viewed from the standpoint of an

objectively reasonable police officer to determine whether those facts give rise to probable cause.

However, Judge Benjamin in her order filed July 19, 2017, never engaged in the proper analysis. The order does describe the "two step process" established in *Ornelas* in the portion of the order captioned "Applicable Standard"; however, Judge Benjamin never engages in the second prong of the analysis. In effect, she never makes a determination whether an objectively reasonable police officer in Deputy Gore's position could have reasonably perceived that Mack was off the Club Essence property at the time he arrested Williamson. Indeed, in the "Findings of Fact" and "Conclusions of Law" sections of the order, Judge Benjamin never makes that determination *nor even addresses what* an "objectively reasonable police officer" would have reasonably perceived or believed with respect to the arrest of Williamson. Judge Benjamin did make a determination that Deputy Gore's "testimony is not believable" and hence was "not credible." (Order, p. 10). However, where the court does not believe the arresting officer's version of the facts, in whole or in part, that does not automatically mean that there was no probable cause for the arrest. Instead, the court was required to still determine what facts were reasonably available to the officer at the time of arrest, those being the "historical facts," and it is those facts that must then be viewed from the perspective of an objectively reasonable police officer to determine whether those facts give rise to probable cause.

In sum, Judge Benjamin erred in failing to apply the second prong of the *Ornelas* test. She failed to make findings and conclusions on that prong. She failed to give any consideration to what an "objectively reasonable police officer" could have perceived about the arrest and whether those perceptions were sufficient to establish probable cause.

II. The trial court erred in failing to rule as a matter of law that an objectively reasonable police officer in Deputy James Gore's position could have perceived and concluded that the Respondent Demetrius Mack committed an unwanted touching resulting in injuries sustained in the public roadway.

Sheriff Lott submits that another remand is not necessary in order to determine whether an objectively reasonable police officer in Deputy Gore's position would believe that Mack was off the Club Essence property at the time he arrested Williamson. Throughout this litigation, Sheriff Lott has taken the position, consistent with the motions for nonsuit made at the close of Mack's case-in-chief and again at the close of all the evidence as well as after remand, that the existence of probable cause may be determined as a matter of law based on the undisputed evidence contained in the record and the concessions Mack made in his own sworn testimony. That evidence includes the dashboard video, which given its very nature, should be deemed undisputed. In other words, even if the evidence

is viewed in a light most favorable to Mack, the Sheriff submits that he is still entitled to a judgment in his favor, and this Court is requested to so rule.

Without dispute, the Respondent Mack was arrested by Deputy Gore for simple assault. The Supreme Court has explained that simple assault is "an unlawful act of violent injury to another, unaccompanied by any circumstances of aggravation." *State v. White*, 361 S.C. 407, 605 S.E.2d 540, 543 (2004). Simple assault has also been defined as "any touching of the person of an individual in a rude or angry manner, without justification." *State v. LaCoste*, 347 S.C. 153, 553 S.E.2d 464, 471 (Ct. App. 2001).

The Sheriff submits that the undisputed evidence at trial establishes as a matter of law that probable cause existed to believe that Mack committed a simple assault upon the victim, McKenzie Williamson, within the public roadway. As a private security officer, Mack enjoyed the arrest powers granted to a sheriff's deputy, but that power may only be exercised on the property on which he is employed. *See*, S.C. Code Ann. § 40-18-110.² Thus, if Mack took action beyond the property that he was hired to protect, such as in the public roadway, then he was without jurisdiction and beyond the scope and protection of Section 40-18-

² Section 40-18-110, which is part of the South Carolina Private Detective and Private Security Agency Act, provides as follows: "A person who is registered or licensed under this chapter and who is hired or employed to provide security services on specific property is granted the authority and arrest power given to sheriff's deputies. The security officer may arrest a person violating or charged with violating a criminal statute of this State *but possesses the powers of arrest only on the property on which he is employed.*" S.C. Code Ann. § 40-18-110. (Emphasis added).

To reiterate, to determine whether probable cause existed for the arrest of Williamson, the court must apply the "two step process" established in *Ornelas*. Thus, the court must first determine what the historical facts were, and based thereon, then determine whether an objectively reasonable police officer in Deputy Gore's position may have reasonably perceived the arrest of Williamson by Mack to have occurred in the public street. If an objectively reasonable officer could have perceived the arrest as occurring in the street, then probable cause existed for Mack's arrest, and judgment should be entered for Sheriff Lott. Judge Benjamin, however, erred in failing to engage in that analysis.

Importantly, Mack conceded in sworn testimony that he was actively pursuing McKenzie Williamson on foot, that Williamson fell under a parked vehicle, that the vehicle had been partially situated in the public roadway, that Mack then proceeded to physically "grab" and "pull" Williamson out from under the vehicle, and that Mack then restrained Williamson by handcuffing him. (R. 143-144, 187-192).

³ Sheriff Lott testified that that South Carolina Private Detective and Private Security Agency Act does not include a provision for a security guard in hot pursuit. (R. 295). That testimony is consistent with case law and Attorney General Opinions on the issue. In *United States v. Mayes*, 2013 WL 267770 (D.S.C. 2013), U.S. District Judge David C. Norton explained that private security guards have no authority to pursue and/or arrest offenders outside the property on which the guards are employed. 2013 WL 267770, *5, n.8. Judge Norton further explained that "Opinions issued by the South Carolina Attorney General have advised that private security officers licensed by SLED do not have the power to engage in 'hot pursuit' of offenders away from the private property they are assigned to guard." 2013 WL 267770, *6, citing S.C. Op. Atty. Gen No. 87-73 (1987). See also, S.C. Op. Atty. Gen No. 77-203 (1977).

In addition to Mack's testimony, the Court has the benefit of the dashcam video from Deputy Stacy Parish's vehicle.⁴ Deputy Parish was responding to a call for backup at a Weir Avenue location past Club Essence where other deputies were working a narcotics arrest. With her dashcam video activated, Deputy Parish turned from Two Notch Road onto Weir Avenue and passed the location of Williamson, which is depicted on the video. (R. 227, 347). When the video is shot, Williamson had already been pulled from underneath the vehicle and was handcuffed. (R. 228, 347). Thus, while the video does not show Williamson being dragged from beneath the white car by Mack, it does show the position of the car in question, which is at least partially in the street, and it shows Williamson at least partially in the street after his arrest. That cannot be reasonably disputed. In fact, Mack's counsel conceded as much with his questioning of Deputy Parish at trial, as the following examples show:

Q. And that white vehicle was half on the side of the road and a half on the property of 109 Weir Avenue?

⁴ The United States Supreme Court's decision in *Scott v. Harris*, 550 U.S. 372 (2007), is instructive on the controlling effect of video evidence over inconsistent witness testimony. In that case, the Supreme Court had the benefit of a videotape of the high-speed police pursuit at issue. The Court concluded that the videotape contradicted the version of events presented by the plaintiff. As a result, the Court held as follows: "Respondent's version of events is so utterly discredited by the record that no reasonable jury could have believed him. The Court of Appeals should not have relied on such visible fiction; it should have viewed the facts in the light depicted by the videotape." 550 U.S. at 380-381. The same standard is equally applicable in the case at bar. This Court is urged to view the critical facts as they are depicted by the indisputable video evidence.

(R. 206).

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