THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
DeAndrea Gist Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

APR 30 2018

Case No. 2010-CP-40-5214
Appellate Case No. 2017-001734

SC Court of Appeals

Demetrius Mack,.....Respondent,

v.

Leon Lott, in his Official Capacity
as Sheriff of Richland County.....Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Joshua Snow Kendrick
Christopher S. Leonard
KENDRICK & LEONARD, P.C.
P.O. Box 886
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 667-3186

Neal Michael Lourie
LOURIE LAW FIRM, LLC
P.O. Box 12089
Columbia, SC 29211

ATTORNEYS FOR THE RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENTS

I. THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN RULING THERE WAS NO PROBABLE CAUSE FOR THE ARREST OF RESPONDENT DEMETRIUS MACK.

This Court reviews actions at law, tried without a jury, only to correct errors of law. *Consignment Sales, LLC v. Tucker Oil Co.*, 391 S.C. 266, 271, 705 S.E.2d 73, 76 (Ct.App. 2010). The trial judge's findings of facts will not be disturbed unless there is no evidence to reasonably support those findings. *Id.* The law in South Carolina on witness credibility and facts found at trial is well-settled. The judge at a bench trial is free to believe some, all, or none of the testimony, even when it is not contradicted. *Lollis v. Dutton*, 807 S.E.2d 723 (S.C.Ct.App. 2017)(emphasis added).

In the instant case, the trial judge heard an extensive description of the events leading to Mack's arrest from both Mack and the deputies. She correctly decided to credit Mack's version of events, rather than the deputies. During their testimony, neither of the deputies involved in Mack's arrest cited credible objective facts to support Mack's arrest. Gore claimed he saw Mack tackle Williamson in the middle of the road, though this was not recorded in his incident report from that night. (R. p.76, lines 21-23; p.80, lines 2-5). Parish claimed in her testimony that the car under which Williamson fell was parked primarily in the roadway, though the video evidence clearly shows that to be untrue. (R. p.217, lines 9-17, p.358).

The Appellant argues that the trial court's findings are of no moment; Deputy Gore's decision to decline to be truthful on the stand should not affect the factual findings in this case:

“However, where the court does not believe the arresting officer's version of the facts, in whole or in part, that does not automatically mean that there was no probably cause for the arrest.”

Brief of Appellant, p.13. In this case, that is exactly what it means. When a source of information decides to lie to the court, the court is under no obligation to use anything that source says. In this case, the remaining facts after discounting the deputies' lies leave nothing to support their claim of probable cause.

The existence of probable cause turns on the totality of the circumstances surrounding the information known to the officers. *State v. George*, 323 S.C. 496, 509, 476 S.E.2d 903, 911 (1996). In other words, the officers must take into account all of the facts surrounding the incident. They are not free to disregard facts that should be considered in making a probable cause determination.

Both sides agree that whether Mack was within his jurisdiction at the time he detained Williamson is the key issue in this case. If he was not within his jurisdiction, Mack did not have the legal right to detain Williamson. If he was within his jurisdiction, Mack did have the legal right to detain Williamson. Simple assault and battery is an *unlawful* act of violent injury to another. *State v. White*, 361 S.C. 407, 413, 605 S.E.2d 540, 543 (2004). Consequently, if he was within his jurisdiction, his actions were not unlawful and could not constitute a simple assault.

In making that determination, the fact-finder is required to view the objective facts surrounding the arrest. An objective standard of conduct is required for fair law enforcement. *Id.* at 659, 667 (quoting *Horton v. California*, 496 U.S. 128, 138, 110 S.Ct. 2301 (1990)). The law enforcement officer's perspective does not exist in a vacuum. It must be reasonable.

Contrary to the Appellant's position, the judge correctly applied the proper standard for determining probable cause in this case. The Appellant argues the judge

did not apply the correct legal principles, claiming she made no attempt to consider an objective assessment of the facts as they were known to the arresting officer. The order on remand reflects the Appellant is incorrect.

The trial court cited this Court for the proposition that probable cause for an arrest exists when circumstances within the arresting officer's knowledge are sufficient to believe a crime has been committed. *State v. Cope*, 385 S.C. 274, 290 (Ct.App. 2009); *State v. Frazier*, 394 S.C. 213, 220 (Ct.App. 2011). The trial court further recognized the South Carolina Supreme Court in this case set out the two-step test for probable cause: “[T]he proper standard for determining probable cause is an objective standard; that is, whether the facts known to the arresting officer at the time of the arrest, viewed from the standpoint of an objectively reasonable police officer, amount to probable cause.” *Mack v. Lott*, 415 S.C. 22 (2015).

Appellant's dispute is not really with the trial court's test or how it was applied. Instead, Appellant continues to dispute the result. Two law enforcement officers were not credible at trial and the trial court did not believe their testimony. (R. pp.16-17). As both parties have recognized, where Mack arrested Williamson is the critical question in this case.

The trial court found that Deputy Gore did not see Mack arrest Williamson and his testimony that the arrest occurred in the middle of the street was not credible. (R. p.17) The trial court found Deputy Parish did not see the arrest and could not offer credible testimony as to where the arrest took place. (R. p.16). Parish testified Williamson was in the street when she arrived. (R. p.217, lines 7-17). The trial court specifically found the objective evidence was contrary to her testimony.

The trial court viewed the videotape from Parish's dashcam, as well as several pictures introduced at the remand hearing. (R. p.16) As she clearly stated in her order, none of those exhibits reflect what the Appellant wants them to reflect. The trial court looked at the objective evidence from the pictures and found the evidence showed Williamson was not in the street when he was tackled and arrested. (R. p.16)

None of the historical facts found by the trial court support probable cause to arrest Mack. The trial court found that the evidence supported Mack's version of events. The trial court found that Deputy Gore was not believable. The trial court found he did not see the arrest of Williamson. The trial court then stated the other evidence continued to corroborate Mack's version of events, not the police officer's.

The Appellant claims the trial court should have assessed what an objectively reasonable police officer would have seen. That is not the test. The test is what an objectively reasonable police officer would have seen in Deputy Gore's position. The trial court clearly found Gore did not see anything. There is no further inquiry.

As explained in Mack's statement of the case, there was testimony and evidence to support the judge's findings of fact. After making those findings, she correctly analyzed whether those facts would lead a reasonable person to believe a crime had been committed on the day in question. She found they did not lead to that result. Without probable cause, a false arrest took place. The judge reached the correct decision based on the record.

There is no requirement the trial court formally state "here is what an objectively reasonable officer would have seen or known." It seems the court was being very judicious to the deputies by simply stating it did not find their testimony credible. Based

on the specific testimony presented and the facts found by the trial court, it would have been within its rights to rule the deputies had lied on the stand.

II. THE TRIAL COURT WAS NOT REQUIRED TO RULE AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT AN OBJECTIVELY REASONABLE POLICE OFFICER IN DEPUTY JAMES GORE'S POSITION COULD HAVE CONCLUDED RESPONDENT DEMETRIUS MACK COMMITTED AN ASSAULT.

The Appellant also claims the existence of probable cause should have been determined as a matter of law. The Appellant states that Lott has taken this position consistently throughout the litigation. It is of note that the position has been consistently rejected by the Circuit Court, this Court, the Supreme Court, and the Circuit Court again. This case has been tried, appealed all the way through the appellate system, argued in both the Court of Appeals and the Supreme Court, and heard again in the Court of Common Pleas. At no stage have any of those Courts decided to step into the shoes of the fact-finder and rule on a factual inquiry as a matter of law.

The Appellant is arguing that the judge should have granted a directed verdict motion. A directed verdict could not have been granted on this record.

In ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, the trial court considers facts in the light most favorable to the opposing party. *Pye v. Estate of Fox*, 369 S.C. 555, 563 633 S.E.2d 505, 509 (2006). The trial court was required to view all facts and any reasonable inferences from those facts in the light most favorable to Mack. If there is more than one inference to be drawn from the facts, or the inference is in doubt, a directed verdict motion must be denied. *Id.* At the directed verdict stage, the trial court does not evaluate the evidence; it is only concerned with the existence or nonexistence of evidence. *Id.*

This Court should reverse the trial court's decision on a directed verdict in two circumstances. A reversal is only appropriate if there is no evidence to support the trial judge's ruling or the ruling was controlled by an error of law. *Id.*

There were two versions of events at the trial, both of which are described in Appellant's statement of the case. Mack testified he was pursuing Williamson and that Williamson fell under a parked car. Mack pulled Williamson out from under the car and detained him. The Appellant argues the car was partially parked in the roadway. It makes no difference where the car was parked; the location of Williamson is the critical factor.

Gore and Proffitt claimed they saw Mack tackle Williamson in the middle of the street. Mack plainly denied this had occurred. At this stage of the proceedings, the trial judge was bound to accept Mack's version of events in deciding a directed verdict. This Court is bound by the same rule. If there is any evidence to support the judge's denial of a directed verdict, it should be upheld. The testimony of Mack alone precluded the trial judge from granting a directed verdict.

The Appellant argues that it makes no difference where the alleged unwanted touching occurred, because that fact is relevant to ultimate guilt or innocence. It claims the officer's objectively reasonable view of the facts form the basis for probable cause. While this may be correct, it completely disregards the fact-finder's duty to assess the credibility of the witnesses. The judge did not disregard the officers' testimony; it appears she did not believe the officers' testimony. The difference is critical.

The Appellant continues to rely on the video evidence in this case, which has been presented to every court to hear the case. No court has decided that video supports the Sheriff's position. This is most likely based on the video's lack of clarity. It does not

reflect the events that occurred leading up to Williamson's arrest. More importantly, what little can be gleaned from the video supports Mack's story, not the Appellant's. The video came from the dashboard camera of Deputy Parrish's patrol car. Though she sped by the relevant scene, it does appear that Mack's story is accurate. The white vehicle described in testimony is primarily parked in grass at 109 Weir Avenue, not the roadway as claimed by the officers.

Scott v. Harris does not support the Appellant's argument. 550 U.S. 372 (2007). All *Scott* did was hold that when a witness's testimony was "utterly discredited" by the record, to the extent no jury could believe him, that testimony would not defeat summary judgment. *Id.* at 381. "When opposing parties tell two different stories, one of which is blatantly contradicted by the record, so that no reasonable jury could believe it, a court should not adopt that version of the facts for purposes of ruling on a motion for summary judgment." *Id.* 380.

While one of the stories in this case was blatantly contradicted by the record, it was the Appellants'. The Court cannot endorse a directed verdict in favor of a party that elected to lie during a trial. *Scott v Harris* says nothing to the contrary.

The facts of the case not only warranted rejection of the motion for directed verdict, they clearly support the judge's verdict. The Appellant discusses wounds consistent with "road rash", claiming this supports the officers' decision that the touching occurred in the roadway. However, it is also entirely consistent with Mack's observation of Williamson sliding on the grass under the car when he fell. At the directed verdict stage, the judge accepted Mack's story, as she was required to do by law. In addition, she reasonably credited Mack's version of events over the deputies' version of events. After reviewing the evidence and listening to the testimony, the trial judge

obviously decided Mack's version of events was supported by the evidence, while the deputy's version was not.

The Appellant claims the facts and circumstances within Gore's knowledge can only reasonably support a finding of probable cause. This is completely wrong. As has been described throughout this brief, there are numerous facts which support the judge's verdict and directly counsel against accepting the deputies' version of events.

Contrary to the Appellant's position, the evidence in this case does not require that the only reasonable conclusion is a finding of probable cause. There is clearly another conclusion; probable cause did not exist. Because that conclusion is actually supported by credible evidence, the judge ruled correctly in both her decision on the directed verdict motion and her verdict.

CONCLUSION